Mg 22

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellant,)
v.

. -

ROBERT COGSWELL,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 70,649

JUL 20 1987

By______Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

DIANE E. LEEDS Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida and the appellant before the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Appellee was the defendant and appellee before the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appeared before the trial court.

The symbol "R" will denote record on appeal; "T" will denote trial transcript. All emphasis has been supplied by Appellant unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Defendant was charged with "Bookmaking" in violation of §849.25(1) and §849.25(2), Fla. Stat. (1985). Nine counts were charged -- five for receiving bets (football cards) on 3 football games; two for receving bets on 5 football games, and two for receiving bets on four and ten football games. (R. 18-21).

A motion to declare §849.25 unconstitutional was filed charging a violation of due process in that the criminal conduct prohibited fell within the purview of two statutes -- §849.25, Fla. Stat., making the proscribed conduct a felony; and, §849.14, Fla. Stat., making the proscribed conduct a misdemeanor. (R. 23). The complaint was that there was "no added element or standard which necessarily makes it [the prohibited behavior] the felony offense". (R. 23).

A hearing was held, pretrial, after which the lower court agreed that \$849.25, Fla. Stat., was unconstitutional. The court stated that the misdemeanor and felony statutes are very similar having "distinctions without a difference" (T. 16), yet there are no "standards to discern what constitutes the felony or the misdemeanor" offense. (R. 33). As such the court found the felony statute "susceptible to arbitrary and discriminatory application" (R. 33) and granted Defendant's motion to dismiss. (T. 16). The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed on appeal similarly finding a violation of the due process as well as equal

protection clauses as the same prohibited conduct may be prosecuted as either a felony or misdemeanor depending on the discretion of the prosecutor, State v. Cogswell, 504 So.2d 464 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

This appeal follows.

POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF \$849.25, FLA. STAT. (1985), AS VIOLATIVE OF THE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE FLORIDA AND U.S. CONSTITUTIONS?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The U.S. Supreme Court in Batchelder has previously addressed the issue raised herein -- the constitutionality of two statutes that overlap yet vary in their penalties where prosecutorial discretion alone determines which statute is It was found that this seemingly 'unbridled' charged. prosecutorial discretion was subject to constitutional constraints. Further, a decision to proceed under the statute with the harsher penalty did not empower the prosecutor to predetermine ultimate criminal sanctions but merely empowered the court to impose a longer prison sentence. Also found was that there was no difference between the instant discretion and the discretion exercised when deciding whether to charge under one of two statutes with different elements. As such constitutional provisions are not violated. Florida law has always been in accord -- no additional elements need be shown to assist the prosecutor in exercising his discretion as to charging either a felony or misdemeanor. Further, assuming arguendo, that an additional element need be proven to make the felony statute constitutional, the legislature has recently amended the statute which amendment clarifies the legislature's past and present intent to prohibit the business or profession of gambling under the felony bookmaking statute.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECLARING \$849.25, FLORIDA STATUTES, UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS VIOLATIVE OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal held the felony bookmaking statute, \$849.25, Fla. Stat. (1985), "constitutionally invalid". The court found a "due process and equal protection" violation to the extent that the prosecution of the same conduct as either a felony, pursuant to \$849.25, Fla. Stat., or a misdemeanor, pursuant to \$849.14, Fla. Stat. (1985), is permitted. It was reasoned that as both statutes prohibited the same conduct -- the taking or receiving of a bet -- unbridled prosecutorial discretion may be exercised when deciding under which statute to prosecute.

The Fourth District's decision, however, is incorrect. The U.S. Supreme Court has previously rendered an opinion on this exact issue. In <u>U.S. v. Batchelder</u>, 442 U.S. 114, 99 S.Ct. 2198, 60 L.Ed.2d 755 (1979),a constitutional challenge identical to the instant challenge was made. It was argued that as Defendant's behavior violated two similar statutes providing for two different penalties a violation of the due

- 6 -

The lesser statute provided for a maximum 2 year sentence of imprisonment; the greater statute, under which Defendant was convicted, provided for a maximum 5 year sentence of imprisonment.

process and equal protection clauses existed. The Circuit Court of Appeals agreed with Defendant and expressed "serious doubts about the constitutionality of the two statutes" as they "provide different penalties for identical conduct" Batchelder at 60 L.Ed.2d 764. In that court's view, identical to the Fourth District Court of Appeals' view, the "unfettered prosecutorial discretion as to which penalty to apply could produce 'unequal justice'.

The U.S. Supreme Court, however, found this analysis "factually and legally unsound", Batchelder, at 60 L.Ed.2d 765. It was reasoned that contrary to the assertions of the Circuit Court of Appeals, a prosecutor's discretion to choose between two applicable statutes was not unfettered, Batchelder, at 60 L.Ed.2d 765. Selectivity in the enforcement of criminal laws was subject to constitutional constraints, Id. at 765. Further, a decision to proceed under the statute with the harsher penalty did not empower the Government to predetermine ultimate criminal sanctions. Rather, it merely enabled the sentencing judge to impose a longer prison sentence than the alternate statute would permit, Id. at 765. The unanimous court continued:

More importantly, there is no appreciable difference between the discretion a prosecutor exercises when deciding whether to charge under one of two statutes with different elements and the discretion he exercises when choosing one or two statutes with identical elements. In the former situation, once he determines that the proof will support

conviction under either statute, his decision is indistinguishable from the one he faces in the latter context. prosecutor may be influenced by the penalties available upon conviction, but this fact, standing alone, does not give rise to a violation of the Equal Protection or Due Process Clause. Cf. Rosenberg v. United States, supra, at 294, 97 L.Ed. 1607, 73 S.Ct. 1152 (Clark, J., concurring); Oyler v. Boles, supra, at 456, 7 L.Ed.2d 446, 82 S.Ct. 501. Just as a defendant has no constitutional right to elect which of two applicable federal statutes shall be the basis of his indictment and prosecution, neither is he entitled to choose the penalty scheme under which he will be sentenced. See U.S. Const., Art. II, §§ 2, 3; 28 USC §§515, 516 [28 USCS §§ 515, 516]; United States v. Nixon, supra, at 694, 41 L.Ed.2d 1039, 94 S.Ct. 3090.

Batchelder, at 60 L.Ed.2d 765-766

The Circuit Court of Appeal's opinion was reversed.

As <u>Batchelder</u>, Id., is on all fours with the case <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> -- two statutes similarly overlapped to prohibit identical criminal conduct albeit had different penalties -- it is clear that the prosecutorial discretion involved in the case at bar similarly did not violate either the due process or equal protection clauses of the constitution.

Florida law is in accord. It has similarly been found that it is not unusual for a course of criminal conduct to violate laws that overlap yet vary in their penalties,

Fayerweather v. State, 332 So.2d 21, 22 (Fla. 1976). For example, in Fayerweather, Id., the defendant was convicted of

receiving stolen property, a credit card, in violation of §811.16, Fla. Stat., (1973), and sentenced to 5 years imprisonment. Fayerweather argued that he could not be punished under §811.16, Fla. Stat., as his criminal behavior was also covered under the State Credit Card Crime Act. Said act provided a less severe punishment. This Court, however, held that Fayerweather was properly convicted and sentenced under the statute -- prosecution under the credit card act was nonexclusive. Similarly, in Davis v. State, 475 So.2d 223 (Fla. 1985), defendant stole a Mercedes Benz automobile valued at over \$23,000. He was charged with first degree grand theft in violation of §812.014(2) (a), Fla. Stat. (1981). Said statute punished theft of property valued at \$20,000 or more as grand theft in the first degree, making it a second degree felony. Davis moved to dismiss the information arguing that he could only be charged with second degree grand theft under §812.014(2) (b). Said statute specifically covered motor vehicles making their theft solely a felony of the third degree. This Court, however, held that the State properly prosecuted Davis. It was reasoned that as the legislature was concerned about the theft of motor vehicles it was mandated that their theft be prosecuted as at least second degree grand theft.

The same is true in <u>State v. Weir</u>, 488 So.2d 557 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) where forgery of a gasoline credit card was held properly prosecuted under either the forgery statute (felony) or

the credit card statute (misdemeanor) depending on the prosecutor's discretion; State v. Copher, 395 So.2d 635 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) where Defendant committed the offense of the sale of a motor vehicle with an altered or destroyed motor number which was held properly prosecuted as either a felony or misdemeanor depending on the prosecutor's discretion; Soverino v. State, 356 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1978) where a battery upon a police officer was held properly prosecuted under \$748.03, Fla. Stat., as a misdemeanor and under \$748.07 Fla. Stat. as a felony; and, State v. Cain, 381 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1980) where pursuant to \$39, Fla. Stat. a juvenile may be tried as either a child or an adult if he meets one of several exceptions to the statute.

As often the accused may be charged under a number of statutes which overlap or duplicate one another, ² Soverino, supra at 272, the State attorney has been granted "complete discretion in making the decision to charge and prosecute" ³

²It is clear, however, that two very different statutes are involved. A violation of the felony bookmaking statute, \$849.14, Fla. Stat., does not invariably constitute a violation of the misdemeanor bookmaking statute, \$849.25, Fla. Stat. The statutes merely overlap as to the receiving of bets placed upon contests involving man or beast yet each additionally proscribes conduct which the other does not: The misdemeanor statute additionally proscribes a) the placing of such bets, and b) the becoming of a custodian or depository of such bets, whereas, the felony statute additionally prohibits the receiving of a bet placed upon the result of "any chance, casualty, unknown, or contingent event whatsoever". Further, the misdemeanor statute is not a lesser included offense of the felony statute. As such the elements of both crimes are and were intended to be obviously different.

³Under the instant facts prosecutorial discretion may inure to a defendant's benefit. Where §849.25, the felony (Cont'd)

(emphasis supplied), Cleveland v. State, 417 So. 2d 653, 654 (Fla. 1982). This discretion is conferred by the legislature and includes the related decision of which range of penalties to apply, Fayerweather v. State, supra at 22. The prosecutor's decision is final and "not subject to judicial review" Cleveland, supra at 654. Said discretion, however, must be exercised in conformance with the spirit of the law and the legislative intent behind its enactment as statutes are subject to judicial interpretation, Garner v. Ward, 251 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1971). 4

statute, covers only receiving a bet, §849.14, the misdemeanor, covers both placing a bet as well as receiving one. As a result the small time 'receiver'may be given the benefit of the doubt and charged with a misdemeanor for his crimes. Without prosecutorial discretion all 'receivers' would, of necessity, be charged with a felony.

⁴In the instant case the prosecutor exercised his discretion as to charging within the spirit of the legislative intent as Defendant was obviously engaged in the business or profession of gambling. The legislative intent behind §849.25, Florida Statutes is set forth in Ferguson v. State, 377 So.2d 709, 711 (Fla. 1979):

The statutory scheme of chapter 849 (gambling) evinces a general intent to treat the business or profession of gambling as a felony while treating the casual or occasional act of gambling as a misdemeanor.

This intent was again reiterated in <u>State v. Tate</u>, 420 So.2d 116, 118 (Fla. 2d DCA 198) where it was held that the bookmaking statute is "<u>not applicable to a single act of gambling</u>" (emphasis supplied). It was reasoned that if a single act of gambling were to be punishable under the bookmaking statute, §849.11 (as well as other sections) would lose their force and effect because the State could always prosecute a single act of gambling as a felony

We must construe all statutes relative to the same subject matter with reference to

(Cont'd)

Batchelder, Id., has been applied by U.S. Circuit Courts of Appeals to varying factual patterns with varying 'twists'.

In <u>U.S. v. Edmonson</u>, 792 F.2d 1492 (9th Cir. 1986)

Defendant argued, as did Defendant in the instant case, that his behavior, prohibited under either a misdemeanor or a felony statute, fell outside the general proposition that where "conduct violates more than one criminal statute the government may generally elect which statute it wishes to charge" <u>Id</u>. at 1497. Defendant argued that the general rule applied solely when one statute required proof on an element that is not required by the other statute" <u>Id</u>. at 1497. The Court, however, found that the "cases simply do not sustain this argument" <u>Id</u>. at 1497. The sole requirements for application of this general principal were found to be 1) no showing that the government discriminates against any class of Defendants in electing which statute it will charge, and, 2) Congress must not have intended that the more specific statute repeal the more general statute, Id. at 1497.

It must be noted that this was the <u>entire</u> argument made by the instant Defendant to the Fourth District Court of Appeal

each other in such a manner that effect may be given to all of the provisions of each. Ferguson v. State.

 $^{^{5}\}mathrm{No}$ such showing or allegation is made in the instant case.

(See Appellee's Brief). As such said court has improperly held the felony bookmaking statute unconstitutional. 6

Further, in Edmondson, Id., contrary to the instant case, Defendant additionally argued 'implied repeal' -- the "most recently enacted statute" impliedly repealed the earlier statute. However to find such there must be an "irreconcilable conflict" between the two statutes. The fact that there are two criminal statutes which apply to exactly the same criminal conduct with different penalties does not create irreconcilable conflict, Id. at 1498. It merely brings into play the rule that the government has the election of which statute to charge, Id. at 1498. As applied to the case sub judice it is the instant felony statute which is last in time. As such, should repeal by implication be found within the legislative intent it is the earlier misdemeanor statute which is repealed by implication and not the later felony statute. Florida law is in accord, Albury v. City of Jacksonville Beach, 205 So. 2d 295 (Fla. 1974); Oldham v. Rooks, 361 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1978). However, the instant Defendant, not being charged under the misdemeanor bookmaking statute has no standing to challenge same.

⁶There is no question that Defendant, at all times, was on notice that he had committed a crime. When Defendant received the instant bets the only question which needed to be resolved was as to the degree of punishment involved, not legality of his behavior.

⁷The legislative history must establish intent to repeal the earlier statute. This has not been argued in the instant case nor is said intent apparent.

Defendant in <u>Edmonson</u> also argued the concept of lenity which presupposes an ambiguity in the statute requiring judicial interpretation. However the court found no ambiguity within the statute itself or between the two statutes. As such there was no occasion for statutory interpretation. Such is the case at bar where the statutes themselves are perfectly clear.

In <u>U.S. v. Fern</u>, 696 F.2d 1269 (11th Cir. 1983), upon a conviction for making a materially false statement to an IRS tax auditor, Defendant argued on appeal that he should have been prosecuted under the specific statute covering the same behavior which provided for a lesser penalty as opposed to the general statute which provided a penalty twice as severe. <u>Id.</u> at 1273. The Court affirmed stating that "Many statutes in the Criminal Code overlap, and the Government may elect the provision under which it wishes to proceed. <u>Erlich v. U.S.</u>, 238 F.2d 481 at 485 (5th Cir. 1976)". The Supreme Court has long recognized 'that when an act violates more than one criminal statute, the Government may prosecute under either so long as it does not discriminate against any class of Defendant. . '" <u>Id</u>. at 1274.

Even though not argued in the instant case, as applied to the case at bar, it is the felony statute, §824.25, Fla.

Stat., which is more specific. Said statute applies solely to the "receiving" of bets, whereas the misdemeanor statute, §849.14, Fla. Stat., applies to whoever "stakes" bets, "receives" bets or "knowingly becomes the custodian or depository" of

bets. As such should the more specific statute be held to apply it would be the instant felony statute.

<u>U.S. v. Jackson</u>, 805 F.2d 457 (2nd Cir. 1986) similarly discussed and rejected the implied repeal of an overlapping earlier statute by a similar later statute as there was no evidence of congressional intent to repeal. See also <u>U.S. v. Uzzell</u>, 780 F.2d 1143 (4th Cir. 1986) and <u>U.S. v. Largo</u>, 775 F.2d 1099 (10th Cir. 1985).

However, assuming arguendo that an additional element need be present within the felony statute to make said statute constitutional, the legislature has recently amended said statute to include an additional element -- that Defendant be engaged in the business or profession of gambling. This amendment does not alter the statute but merely codifies the legislative intent previously unwritten. This court in 1979 in Ferguson, supra, extracted this same legislative intent from the earlier felony statute. As such it is clear that it has always been and continues to be the legislative intent to prohibit the business or profession of gambling under §849.25, Fla. Stat. The lower court's opinion, therefore, is incorrect as the two statutes have always prohibited different acts -- the felony applied solely to the business of profession of gambling and the misdemeanor to the single act of gambling.

Finally, the trial court in its order declaring the instant statute unconstitutional, noted that this court in State

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