#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,647

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

ROBERT COGSWELL,

Appellee.

NUS Y

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

AN APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

#### ANSWER BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

LAW OFFICES OF GEORGE T. PALLAS Suite 400, LeJeune Centre 780 N.W. LeJeune Road Miami, Florida 33126 (305) 447-1160

BY: GEORGE T. PALLAS, ESQ. Counsel for Appellee

##

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

The trial court and the Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly found s.849.25 Fla.Stat.(1983) unconstitutional as violative of defendant's due process and equal protection rights by "felonizing" conduct which is identical to that proscribed by the misdemeanor statute, s.849.14 Fla.Stat. (1983), without affording any standards by which the prosecutor's discretion can be meaningfully narrowed in circumstances where conduct constituting a violation of the misdemeanor statute invariably constitutes a violation of the felony statute.

Section 849.25, Fla.Stat. (1983), provides:

(1) The term "bookmaking" means the act of taking or receiving any bet or wager upon the result of any trial or contest of skill, speed or power or endurance of man or beast, or between men, beasts, fowl, motor vehicles, or mechanical apparatus or upon result of chance, any casualty, unknown. or contingent whatsoever.

The offense is a third degree felony with a mandatory adjudication of guilt. Section 849.25(2), Fla.Stat.(1983).

Section 849.14, <u>Fla.Stat</u>.(1983), which constitutes a second degree misdemeanor, provides in pertinent part as

follows:

Whoever stakes, bets or wagers any money or other thing of value upon the result of any trial or contest of skill, speed orpower or endurance of man or beast, or whoever receives in any manner whatsoever any money or other thing of value staked, bet or wagered, or offered for the purpose of being staked, bet or wagered, by or for any other person upon any such result...

Both the felony and misdemeanor provisions are to be read <u>in pari materia</u>. <u>State v. Tate</u>, 420 So.2d 116, 117 (Fla.2d DCA 1982).

Section 849.14, the misdemeanor statute, prohibits both one who "bets" or "wagers" and one who "receives in any Section 849.25, the felony statute, manner" a bet or wager. the other hand. prohibits only the "taking" on "receiving" of a bet or wager. Thus, one who places a bet can be prosecuted only for the misdemeanor while one who takes or receives a bet can be prosecuted for both the felony or the misdemeanor offense, depending solely on the whim of the prosecutor. COGSWELL asserts, as both courts below agreed, that s.849.25 is therefore have constitutionally invalid in that one cannot determine whether his or her conduct constitutes a felony or a misdemeanor and that the absence of any standard by which a prosecutor is to discern what conduct constitutes the felony the misdemeanor renders the statute susceptible to arbitrary and standardless application in violation of his right to due process and equal protection of law pursuant to Section 9, Article I, of the Florida Constitution and the

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

The conduct alleged in the information in the case at bar clearly falls within the purview of both the above quoted felony and misdemeanor provisions of Chapter 849. Inasmuch as there is no added element or standard which necessarily makes the conduct alleged in this case a felony offense as opposed to a misdemeanor offense, the prosecutor retains unlimited and unguided discretion in determining whether to charge a felony or a misdemeanor. Moreover, the statute in question thus renders it susceptible to unequal application to persons engaging in identical conduct. While one person might be subjected to prosecution as a felony, another might be prosecuted for the misdemeanor.

The Legislature, in enacting section 849.25, has failed to sufficiently delineate any standards so as to limit law enforcement and prosecutorial discretion in prosecuting only the professional exploitative gambler under section 849.25. at The bar is particularly illustrative of prosecutorial abuse that directly results from such a standardless statute. Indeed, the State, in footnote 3 of their brief, makes the remarkable contention that this discretion "may inure to a defendant's benefit," in that the "small time 'receiver'" may be given "the benefit of the doubt" and charged with the misdemeanor offense. The statement actually underscores the potential for abuse in that no explanation is given why COGSWELL, whose bets ranged from \$1.00 to \$10.00 for a total of \$34.00, was not given "the benefit of the doubt."

It is a basic requirement of due process that a statute must provide ascertainable standards of quilt to protect against arbitrary, erratic, and discriminatory enforcement. Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104(1972); Papachristou 156 v. City of Jacksonville. 405 U.S. (1972);Florida Businessmen, etc., v. City of Hollywood, 675 F.2d 1213 (11th Cir.1982). Without sufficiently precise standards legislature impermissibly delegates basic statutes, the policy decisions to the personal predilections of police, prosecutors, and juries. See Smith v. Goquen, 415 U.S. 576 (1976); State v. DeLeo, 356 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1978).

The statute at issue here, section 849.25, fails in this respect. It is unknown, and indeed unknowable, whether the conduct sought to be prohibited constitutes a felony or a State v. Cogswell, 17 Fla.Supp.2d 40 misdemeanor. C.C.1986). Clearly, COGSWELL's purported conduct of taking or receiving bets or wagers falls within the prohibition of both the felony and misdemeanor provisions of Chapter 849. The problem lies in the fact that there is no added element or standard which necessarily makes his conduct a violation of the felony statute as opposed to the misdemeanor statute. The prosecution, by electing to proceed under the felony bookmaking statute, section 849.25 (with its mandatory adjudication of quilt provision), opposed the as misdemeanor gambling statute, section 849.14, does not assume the added burden of proving any additional element Indeed, the statute requires no such additional whatsoever. element. It is for this reason that the statute "is simply too open-ended to limit prosecutorial discretion in any reasonable way." State v. DeLeo, supra at 308.

The last cited case, <u>DeLeo</u>, is particularly significant. There, this Court struck a statute prohibiting "official misconduct" by a public servant as being susceptible to arbitrary application in violation of the due process clause. In so ruling, the Court observed that "official misconduct" as defined under the statute there at issue was keyed into the violation of any statute, rule or regulation, whether or not they contained any criminal penalties themselves, "and no matter how minor or trivial." 356 So.2d at 308. This Court this stated:

Theoretically, using then, this definition [a could defendant] charged with official misconduct, a felony of the third degree punishable by up to five years in prison or a fine up to \$5,000, for violating a minor agency rule applicable to him, which might carry no penalty of its own.

\* \* \*

While some discretion is inherent in prosecutorial decision-making, it cannot be without bounds. The crime defined by [this] statute...is simply too open-ended to limit prosecutorial discretion in any reasonable way. The could be used, at best, to prosecute, as crime, the most insignificant transgressions or, at worst, to misuse judicial process for political We find it susceptible to purposes. arbitrary application....356 So.2d at 308 [footnotes omitted].

Precisely the same defect plagues the bookmaking statute that condemned the "official misconduct" statute in <a href="DeLeo">DeLeo</a>. Using the definition of "bookmaking" set forth in

s.849.25, the prosecution in the case at bar has "felonized" COGSWELL's thirty-four (\$34) dollar football pool notwithstanding the fact that "one is not necessarily in violation of the bookmaking statute by merely participating in one or more acts of gambling." State v. Tate, 420 So.2d 116, 118 (Fla.2d DCA 1982).

The Legislature's recent revisions to s.849.25 virtually concede that the statute applicable to COGSWELL was defective. Effective October 1, 1987, a defendant must be "engaged in the business or profession of gambling," to be subjected to the felony penalties. The statute lists seven (7) separate factors, the existence of any two which give rise to prima facie evidence of a commercial bookmaking operation. (A.8). The Legislative staff analysis explains that s.849.25 was ammended "to provide parameters for the court to consider in determining whether a person is engaged in the crime of bookmaking." (A.9). Thus, the statute now affords sufficient guidance to those who must apply it, namely police officers, prosecutors, judges and juries. Indeed, it is now clearly the legislative intent and purpose to differentiate penal treatment of the social gambler and the exploitative commercial gambler to the end that only the latter suffers the mandatory felony penalty.

The Third District Court's decision in <u>State v. Hoaq</u>, 419 So.2d 416 (Fla.3d DCA 1982), lends much support to COGSWELL's constitutional analysis in the case <u>sub judice</u>. There, after the defendant destroyed a junk vehicle by driving it to an isolated portion of the Everglades and

causing it to be exploded, he was charged under a <u>mandatory</u> <u>minimum</u> statute prohibiting the unlawful discharge of a destructive device notwithstanding the existence of a <u>non-mandatory</u> minimum statute prohibiting the identical conduct. In affirming the trial court's order dismissing the information, this Court held:

No conceivable public purpose could be served by prosecuting harmless conduct pursuant to a mandatory imprisonment statute where there is another statute, with a discretionary sentence provision, prohibiting those same acts which part of constitute material the charge. Had the statute been applied to the facts of this case we would be faced with a serious challenge as to So.2d constitutionality. 419 [footnote omitted].

The analysis in <u>Hoaq</u> is compelling. The mandatory minimum destructive device statute in Hoaq is analogous to (with the felony bookmaking statute its mandatory adjudication of guilt provision) used by the prosecution in the case at bar. In both Hoaq and here, the conduct alleged constituting a violation of the harsher statute as encompasses the "same acts" covered by the less severe statute. Precisely as noted by the Third District in Hoaq and by this Court in <u>Soverino</u>, application of the felony statute to identical conduct comprising a violation of the misdemeanor statute raises the same "serious challenge as to [the felony statute's] constitutionality."

The Florida decisions cited in the State's Brief provide no answer to COGSWELL's constitutional challenge to the bookmaking statute. Those cases simply establish the

unchallenged rule that it is not unusual for a course of criminal conduct to violate laws that overlap, yet vary in their penalty. See, e.g., Fayerweather v. State, 332 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1976); Soverino v. State, 356 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1978); Davis v. State 475 So.2d 223 (Fla. 1985); It is clearly the rule of law in Florida and elsewhere that where a course of conduct violates two statutes, the State has complete discretion to prosecute under either statute.

However, unlike these just-cited decisions, in the case at bar, there is no additional element or standard which necessarily makes the purported conduct at issue a felony misdemeanor offense. The offense opposed to prosecution in the case at bar, by exercising unfettered and unguided discretion to proceed under the felony bookmaking statute as opposed to the misdemeanor gambling statute does not assume any added burden of proving any additional element. The Florida Supreme Court's most recent illustration of this principle is <u>Davis v. State</u>, where the defendant stole a Mercedes Benz automobile valued in excess of \$20,000. He was charged, tried and convicted of first degree grand theft which punishes the theft of any property valued at more than \$20,000 as a second degree The defendant argued on appeal that he could only felony. be charged with second degree grand theft, a third degree felony, in that the section of the statute specifically covering motor vehicles made their theft solely a third degree felony. This Court upheld the conviction, permitting the State's prosecutorial discretion in deciding which section to charge <u>only</u> if the State was willing to assume the burden of proof as to an <u>additional element</u> not contained in the lesser offense. This Court held:

Thus, the state may prosecute Davis for grand theft in the first degree and assume the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the value of the motor vehicle is \$20,000 or more. 475 So.2d at 224.

The Court upheld the conviction finding that

the state both accepted and met the burden of proving that the motor vehicle in question was worth \$20,000. Id.

There is no additional burden of proof in the instant case which the State, in electing to proceed under the felony statute, assumes.

Fayerweather v. State, 332 So.2d 21 (Fla.1976), is similarly inapplicable. The case concerned the prosecutorial discretion the State possesses in determining whether to prosecute under the general receiving stolen goods statute or the more specific credit card crime act. This Court, in holding that Fayerweather was properly convicted, stated:

We do not read [the State Credit Card Crime Act] to require exclusive prosecution under this act when the elements of other criminal laws are also present. 332 So.2d at 22.

The State's reliance upon <u>Soverino v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 269 (Fla.1978) and <u>State v. Cain</u>, 381 So.2d 1361 (Fla.1980) is likewise misplaced.

In <u>Soverino</u>, this Court found no constitutional barrier in providing the prosecutor, when a police officer has been

the victim of a battery, the discretion to charge under either the misdemeanor battery statute (s.784.03, Fla. Stat.) or the felony battery upon a police officer statute (s.784.07, Fla. Stat.). Implicit in that decision is the fact that the prosecutor, in deciding to visit upon the offender the felony penalty, assumes the burden of proof as to an additional element, that is, that the victim of the battery is a police officer. This added element erases the potential for arbitrary and erratic enforcement and thus the constitutional infirmity existing in the case sub judice.

Similarly, in State v. Cain, this Court found no due process violation in a statute vesting the state attorney with authority to criminally prosecute juveniles as adults in certain circumstances. The Court expressly found that statute was not arbitrary because the statutory provision "controlled the state attorney's charging authority" in permitting the prosecutor the discretion to criminally prosecute the juvenile only when he is 16 years of age or older and has in the past committed two delinquent acts, one of which would constitute a felony if committed by an adult. 381 So.2d at 1364-5. Thus, the potential for arbitrary and discriminatory application was removed by the legislature's determination, based on age and past record, certain juvenile offenders were not suitable for treatment in the juvenile justice system.

While the United States Supreme Court has never addressed the situation where identical conduct constituting a violation of a misdemeanor statute will invariably

constitute a violation of a felony statute, the dissenters in Berra v. United States, 351 U.S. 131, 135-140 (1956), did squarely address the question and found the identical due process and equal protection violations raised in the case There, the defendant was prosecuted for violation at bar. of the federal income tax laws under a felony statute that prohibited the same conduct also proscribed by a misdemeanor provision of the United States tax code. The defendant there had made no motions before the trial court addressed to the validity of the indictment, conviction, or sentence, and instead only challenged on appeal the trial court's denial of a lesser-offense instruction to the jury. majority of the Supreme Court rejected this isolated assertion. However, Justice Black's dissent, joined by Justice Douglas, argued strongly that the Court should address the due process-equal protection problem arising out of the prosecution of conduct that constituted a violation of both the misdemeanor and the felony statute:

> Regardless of whether it was error to refuse the requested instruction, the record raises a serious question as to whether the four-year sentence...was lawfully imposed. The [majority's] takes the position that opinion proper challenges to the sentence under the felony statute were raised below and that "No hence such questions presented here." 351 U.S. at 137.

Although the due process-equal protection assertion was not raised below, the dissenters believed that application of the felony statute to Berra was "plain error" and required the Court to address the issue. Justice Black then directly met the issue and stated:

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